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INTRODUCTION

George William Robbins was born to William Raymond
and Grace (Kirkendall) Robbins on April 5, 1905, in
Thayer, Kansas, where he received his early education.

His father, a real estate broker, served two terms as a
member of the Kansas State Legislature, during one of which
George served as page in the House.

The family moved to Long Beach, California, in 1921,
and Mr. Robbins graduated from Long Beach Polytechnic
High School in 1922. He then enrolled at the University
of California, Southern Branch, located on North Vermont
Avenue. An outstanding student, he earned his BA degree
in economics in 1926, then matriculated at Harvard Business
School, receiving the MBA degree in 1928.

He returned to Los Angeles as director of research
for the advertising firm, Farrar Company, but left the
following year to accept his first teaching position, an
assistant professorship at the University of Oregon. He
was quickly promoted to associate professor, but when in
1931 he was invited to return to UCLA as a faculty member,
he accepted.

His career at Westwood was impressive in its rise
through professorial and administrative ranks, inasmuch

as it paralleled the growth of the university and the
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develépment of the~business school. Hired as an assistant
professor, he taught courses in accounting and in his
specialization-—-marketing and international trade. He
became associate professor in 1947, full professor in
1955, and emeritus professor upon his retirement in 1970.

His first administrative assignment was that of head
of management training in the university's Engineering,
Science and Management War Training Program, 1942-45, and
of University Extension's business administration program
from 1945 to 1948. He was responsible for organizing
and guiding the curricula program established to meet the
postwar needs of the business community.

Mr. Robbins was appointed associate dean of the College
of Business Administration in 1948 and named associate
dean of the Graduate School of Business Administration when
that school was formed in 1955. From 1957 to 1964, he also
served as chairman of the Department of Business Adminis-
tration.

Three times during his associate deanship (1953-55,
1956-58, 1962-63), he became acting dean, replacing the
peripatetic Dean Neil H. Jacoby, who was pressed into
advisory service for the federal government and the United
Nations. When Dean Jacoby relinquished the deanship in
1968, Professor Robbins succeeded him. He remained head

of the School of Management until his retirement.
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Mr. Robbins's expertise also resulted in a wide
variety of assignments worldwide as teacher and consul-
tant. He was a visiting lecturer at the University of
Wisconsin in the summer of 1947. He traveled to Italy as
an instructor at IPSOA (graduate school of management in
Turin) in 1959 and to India in 1964 to teach at the Indian
Institute of Management in Calcutta which was established
on a model presented by hiﬁ to the Ford Foundation and
the government of India in 1959. He was a visiting
professor at the University of Strathclyde in Glasgow,
Scotland, in 1967.

In addition to his university-associated work, Mr.
Robbins has been a market research consultant since 1944.
In this capacity, he has worked with the European Produc-—
tivity Agency, the Ford Foundation, and the Agency for Inter-
national Development. For the Ford Foundation, he traveled
to India and Chile; under the auspices of AZD, he has worked .
in Bolivia, India, and Turkey.

From 1956 to 1967, Dean Robbins was a member of
the national council of educational advisors to the
American College of Life Underwriters and the American
Institute of Casualty and Property Underwriters.

He is a member and past president (1952-53) of the
Southern California Chapter of the American Marketing

Association and holds memberships in the Western Economic
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Association, Alpha Kappa Psi, Pi Gamma Mu, and Delta
~Upsilon. He served as national vice-president of Beta
Gamma Sigma from 1963 to 1965.

In the following pages, which consist of tape-recorded
interviews made with the UCLA Oral History Program, George
Robbins discusses the growth and development of the study
of management on the UCLA campus, culminating with the
creation of the Graduate School of Management, and recalls
his own participation in business management as student,
teacher, administrator, and consultant from 1922 to 1970.

These recollections are part of the Program's series
on University History. Records relating to this interview

are located in the office of the UCLA Oral History Program.
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TAPE NUMBER: I, SIDE ONE
March 5, 1972

MINK: First of all, could you tell me where you were
born and something about your early education?
ROBBINS: I'm a small-town boy. I grew up in south-
eastern Kansas. I was born in Thayer, Kansas, on
April 5, 1905, a town of about four to five hundred
people. I was in that community until I was a senior
in high school.

MINK: Was this a farm community?

ROBBINS: It was a farming community. This was a
small town that was a center for shopping for a small
area in southeastern Kansas.

MINK: Were your parents farmers?

ROBBINS: No, my father was a real estate broker and
was a member of the Kansas State Legislature for twd
terms. As a matter of fact, my first brush with urban
society was when I accompanied my father on his first
term to Topeka, Kansas, and served as a page in the
house of representatives. 1 can remember what a
thrill it was that first night when I went down the
hallway of the hotel and looked down on the lighted
dome of the capitol. It was one of the big thrills of
my life, and I can still remember what a feeling I had.
So I was not a farm boy, but on the other hand, I

wasn't a city boy. I grew up sort of in between.



MINK: Were you,K the only child in the family?
ROBBINS: No. I had a sister who was about seven years
older and a brother who was thirteen months older and
another brother who was two and a half years younger
than I. It was a rural setting, no pavement, no
electricity, no inside plumbing. My parents bought the
little hotel in that town mostly as a place for us
youngsters to get some experience meeting other people
and having a responsibility for work. So I learned
how to change beds and empty slops, wait on tables,
wash dishes, and do some cooking when I was very young.
Then my father saved enough money for us to come
to California, which was a dream of his. I don't know
how it was stimulated. I think it was stimulated by a
man he used to trade with who talked about California
a great deal.
MINK: Did he have notions of getting into real estate
out here?
ROBBINS: Yes, I think he did. He‘thought he could
transfer his occupation to this environment, which
proved to be difficult because he was one of those
very honest, Middle Western farm-oriented persons
that everybody had faith in. His word was absolutely
his bond, and when he got into this vast company of
urban realtors with all the tent shows, he was out

of his element. He simply couldn't engage in this



kind of dishonesty, you see. ©So he didn't do too well.
Well, he did fairly well. '

| But at any rate, that summer of 1921, he packed
three boys and their mother and father into a Hudson
Super Six loaded down with camping equipment, and
toured about three thousand miles up to the Northwest,
ending in Long Beach where I finished high school. My
brother had already graduated from high school, but he
waited a year so we could go to college together.
MINK: An interesting kind of a question would be--and
a number of people who have been recorded have had
this same experience--to compare the kind of education
you received in Kansas, in high school there, with the
kind of finishing education you had here in high
school.
ROBBINS: Well, the change was very dramatic, because
it was a very small high school with only about forty
or fifty people in all four years--forty, I guess it
would be. The instruction was almost uniformly
mediocre. I can remember only two very outstanding
teachers in all of my grades and high school.
MINK: In Kansas?
ROBBINS: In Kansas. One of them was a middle-aged woman,
a maiden woman, who was the daughter of a very learned
physician in that town. She was an expert in Shakespeare,

and she really turned me on to literature, particularly



Shakespeare.

MINK: Do you recall her name?

ROBBINS: Yes, Evelyn DeMoss. ©She made us memorize
most of Hamlet, for example, and I can still quote
this. I got to know how to look up the meaning of
Shakespeare's words and so on, and to love it. Nothing
like that happened to me in the physical sciences or

in the social sciences, really.

The other one was the principal of the school,
whom I did not know very well. His name was Dr. Cross.
" He was a very learned person, and I had a high respéct
for him. He taught social studies. I only had one
class from him, but outside of school he was a very
great inspiration to me and to my family and a very
good friend of my father's.

MINK: In whatAway?

ROBBINS: Well, conversation and his humanity; he was

a great humanist. We would call him today a great
humanist. He was a philosopher and a very mild-mannered
but thoughtful person who was thoroughly honest
intellectually. But aside from these two teachers, the
instruction in Thayer was very poor, and the community
was a sterile community, basically. It wasn't in the
Bible Belt, but it was in the Methodist Bible Belt.
MINK: The next best thing. [ laughter]

ROBBINS: Yes. ' I grew up going to the Methodist Church,

but I never could stand it very well. My family, of



course, believed in playing cards and dancing and having
fun. We lived on the main street. Our hotel had

full glass windows. The drummers and itinerants who
stayed in the hotel would play cribbage and play cards,
and we would open up the lobby and the dining room
back of it and turn on the Victrola and dance. By and
large, the members of the community thought it was a
very great sin to do anything like this. After prayer
meeting on Wednesday nights, they would come in a very
long stream past our place and look out of the corners
of their eyes in order to get a real knowledge of what
sin was like. [laughter] I think the community was
not a very exciting one to grow up in.

On the other hand, Long Beach was a pretty big
town for us at that time, and Long Beach Polytechnic
High School had some very fine teachers. One of those,
whose name I can't recall, a professor of social
science, took a special interest in me and called me
to stay after class one day after I had been there for
about half a semester. He said, "I've looked up your
record and I think you are eligible to belong to the
California Scholarship Society." This was all news
to me--1'd never even thought about scholarship--and
this interested me. He then talked to me about my
going to college. He thought I should certainly go to
college.

MINK: Had you had any notions of going to college



up to this time?

ROBBINS: Oh, I always had, yes. I thought [first] I
would go to Kansas University. My father and mother
were anxious to have me go. Iy father was not a
graduate of college, but my mother was a graduate of
Kansas State Normal College. She was especially
interested, of course, as mothers are, in pushing off-
spring. I then decided that I wanted to go to Stanford
University, where I was admitted; but I wound up at
UCLA in 1922 because I couldn't raise the money to pay
tuition at Stanford. I've never regretted it, although
I did at the time.

MINK: In this decision to go to Stanford, were you
lookiné to attending the School of Business Administra-
tion at Stanford?

ROBBINS: Oh no, no. I had no knowledge as to what I
was interested in, excepting that I was not particularly
interested in sciences. I was much more interested in
social sciences and languages and literature and a
little bit in art. I didn't know much about art. But
music was very important to all of our‘family.

MINK: Were they musicians?

ROBBINS: No, only as amateurs. Ify older brother played
the piano quite well and very seriously in Kansas, and
I studied the violin. But I started too late and
didn't have any instruction in that local town, so I

gave it up after I went to college, although I played



second fiddle in the Long Beach [Polytechnic] High
School orchestra.

I've always had a very deep interest in music
particularly. This was stimulated to some extent by
the environment at Long Beach, because there were band
concerts there--a very excellent band, free band
concerts. There were other concerts that I was never
able to attend. In Kansas, we had to drive fourteen
miles on dirty, dusty roads to go to any kind of
theater at all except a nickelodeon movie which we
had in our town.

So the Long Beach environment was a stimulating
one. There were concerts by good musicians. Troupes
of actors would come through and give performances of
good things, like Hamlet, for example, which I saw
several times there. The high school had an ROTC and
I liked ROTC. I didn't care much for sports; I never
had an opportunity to be trained in sports in Thayer.
I was always too shy. I thought I was incapable of
doing much in a competitive way. And in college I
didn't engage much in sports either. But there was a
great contrast to that sterile sort of Middle Western
atmoéphere. I'm sure that it's not sterile today in
that same sense. I've visited the hometown, and the
town has practically disappeared because of the
development of roads. Still, the people around there

have travelled in Europe and go to Los Angeles,



Hawaii and New York now. They look at the same tele—
vision we do, so it's a much different situation than
it was at that time.

My sister studied music. She was a coloratura
soprano, and she studied in Kansas City for a while.
I was a coloratura soprano as a boy and sang along with
Galli-Curci and others on records.
MINK: Kansas City was not a sterile place in the sense
of not having good schools of music, certainly.
ROBBINS: No, it had one or two very good schools.
It had, of course, a first-class newspaper; the Kansas
City Star was one of the best papers in the United
States at that time. We got the Kansas City Star,

of course, every morning. But I didn't go to Kansas
City, never was in Kansas City, until much later, after
I moved here. Well, that's something of the background.
MINK: So you were not able to go to Stanford but you
were able to come to Southern Branch in Los Angeles.
ROBBINS: Yes, because it was free tuition, virtually.
I think we paid--what was it, six dollars a semester?
MINK: Yes, it was very reasonable.

ROBBINS: Seven-fifty or something like that.

MINK: Were you planning then to commute from Long
Beach or were you going to move to Los Angeles?
ROBBINS: No, my brother and I took a room with the
Lohmans near Sanborn Junction on Santa Monica Boule-

vard. We'd walk about a mile from there to the



university, the Southern Branch, which was a Junior
college branch really, a normal school, I guess. We
had access to the kitchen, and we'd more or less cook
our own food. My mother would send up food when we
went home every weekend during our freshman and sophomore
years.

MINK: Did you take the Long Beach Red Car?

ROBBINS: The big Red Cars, and we'd go down Sunset
Boulevard on the Red Car and then walk over to Fifth
and Main and catch the big Red Cars to Long Beach.
That was for our first two years. |

- MINK: So you were enrolled, in the first two years, in
[ the College of] Letters and Science then?

ROBBINS: Yes, right.

MINK: And the date would be.-..

‘ROBBINS: Nineteen twenty-two to 1926.

MINK: I see.

ROBBINS: Yes, we had our degrees in '26. We were the
second graduating class. You see, the third and fourth
years were added Jjust in time for us to continue,
because when we started as freshmen we thought we
would transfer. I was hoping I would transfer to
Stanford.

MINK: While you're talking about the third and fourth
years: we read from the administrative point of view
of how this came about; but I wonder how the students

actually felt about it. Was there a really strong



feeling about this?
ROBBINS: Oh, exceedingly strong. ZExceedingly strong.
MINK: You talked about it a lot.
ROBBINS: Oh, we did. We, of course, had, I think, a
most extraordinary grouﬁ of students. I don't really
know why other students went to Southern Branch, but I
suspect more or less the same reasons we did.
MINK: No money.
ROBBINS: No money, or they wanted not to leave town
and they didn't want to go to USC for some reason or
other.
MINK: TUSC at this time, as a private institution, did
have a tuition.
ROBBINS: Yes, it had a tuition.
MINK: Perhaps just as strenuous for that time as it
is for people today.
ROBBINS: I think probably it was;, I don't recall a
dollér figure. But at any rate, as far as I was con-
‘cerned, I wanted the best education. USC at that time
did not have the reputation comparable to Stanford or
Berkeley. Of course, it's a much different institution
: today,tobviously, but at that time I wouldn't have
given it a second thought.

We soon became very much involved in the campus
life, in peripheral, small ways. In the Junior year,
we became associated with a group of students, all of

whom were DeMolays, as we were, and started a DeMolay
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fraternity which later, in 1929, became a chapter of
Delta Upsilon, after I graduated. My brother and I
were leaders in the development of the local fraternity
from 1924 to 1926. I was house manager and negotiated
the lease for the first house on Vermont Avenue, and

a second on Heliotrope Drive. I had to work my way
through school, so that managership helped. I also

had a job in my senior year as a secretary to the
principals of Hewitt Street School and Sixtieth Avenue
School. By that time, I had gotten an o0ld Model T Ford,
to drive to these schools everyday, clear over to
Avenue 60, near Pasadena.

MINK: What kind of a curriculum were you pursuing?
ROBBINS: I was interested in economics.

MINK: When did this interest really start? You said
that in high school you were interested mainly in social
studies. Are you able to identify when this change
came about?

ROBBINS: I find it a little difficult to trace my
thinking on this. DPart of it was just accidental
probably. I wasn't very much interested in the first
course in economics, which was taught by a stockbroker
downtown by the name of [Elmer S.] Nelson.

MINK: At the Southern Branch?

ROBBINS: At Southern Branch, yes. He was a lecturer
brought in.

MINK: Was he teaching beginning economics?

11



ROBBINS: Yes, in Millspaugh Hall, to a big group,

two or three hundred people. He wasn't terribly
interesting or exciting. I was somewhat interested in
political science also, and more in geography, also;
but basically, the commerce curriculum, which it was
called at that time, interested me more than anything
else. The elementary accounting, then the statistics,
were taught well. Ira Frisbee taught the statistics.
Howard Noble taught some of the business organization
courses to begin with, and they were very interesting
courses to me.

MINK: Well now comes one of those interesting aspects
of the university. In that period the Normal School
influence waé still there, and all of these courses
were taught with the idea in mind that the people

who were taking the courses probably would go into

| education.

ROBBINS: No, that wasn't the case.

MINK: You didn't feel that way?

ROBBINS: I felt no identification with the Teachers
College, none at all.

MINK: DNone whatsoever. Was that made very distinct in
that time, do you think? Were you told by the faculty
that you were separate.

ROBBINS: We were in Letters and Science, separate
from the Teachers College. I had no identification

with Teachers College at all. I knew Marvin Darsie and,
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of course, Ernest Carroll Moore and a few of the other
teachers there. At that time, you see, there was
developing on the faculty a nucleus of first-rate
scholars, like Loye Holmes Miller, Vern Knudsen,
[William Conger] Morgan in chemistry, and Gordon Watkins
in economics. Cloyd H. Marvin had left the year after
I got there, I think, so I just barely knew him. He
became president of George Washington Uhiversity in
Washington, D.C., and was well known after that.
And thenIily Bess Campbell in English. I didn't study
with her, but we had Rieber in logic and some excellent
young instructors there--Miller McClintock, for
example, in political science, who later became one of
the originators of traffic engineering in the United
States; and Marshall McComb, who is now justice of the
Supreme Court of California, a major dissenter, who
was a very close friend of mine. I admired his teaching
very much. He taught business law.

So there was no feeling that most of the people
on the campus were going to head for teaching. I think
a great many were: the girls, particularly, were
getting credentials, but not many of the men.
MINK: I'm perhaps overemphasizing that. I think,
however, there has been the tendency and feeling in
the university, and maybe you would agree with this,
that some of the early faculty were primarily the

carry-over from the Normal School and oriented in
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that direction.

ROBBINS: Well, I think that may be true, but I never
felt it. I don't believe that these professors that
I'm talking about would have come here if they were
going to be a part of the Normal School.

MINK: Teaching the teachers.

ROBBINS: There was something beyond. This was a
school that was going to go places, and this is what
Dr. Moore told them in recruiting, I'm sure. He
preached this to the students. There are two things I
remember particularly in the indoctrination lecture
that he gave. He got everybody together, all the
freshmen together, in Millspaugh Hall, and there are
two things that I remember from his speech.

One was that there are two kinds of surfaces in
the quadrangle, bricks and grass; you walked on the
bricks, but you did not walk on the grass. This had
implications with respect to your behavior as a whole,
you were in the university now, and you had to behave
like ladies and gentlemen with some self-discipline.
It wasn't just bricks and grass. But we got the
message, most of us, I think, and we observed it quite
well.

The second thing that I remember was that "this
institution is in its infancy and it's going to become
one of the great universities of the world." I

believed him, and I think most of the rest of us
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believed him, and we thought that we were a part of a
pioneering enterprise that was terribly important.
MINK: Do you feel that Dr. Moore was a compelling
kind of individual?

ROBBINS: DNot to the ordinary student, but he was
physically impressive, you see. We all knew that he
boxed in the basement of his home with a punching bag,
and he was robust. He was a forbidding person because
of his stiff demeanor. He didn't turn his head--he
turned his whole body to look at you and screwed up

his mouth to talk. It was somewhat difficult for him
to get a flow of verbiage, and a lot of students made
fun of him. His Psychology X—-this is the orientation
course for all students--was much beyond most freshmen.
He would give us essays to write every week, and we had
no idea what we were writing about or talking about.
He'd say, "What is education?'" for example. You'd

have to write an essay. Here's a freshman writing an
essay on "What is Education?" They were thought-
provoking titles, but most of us didn't get aroundﬁto
thinking about them until the night before the next
meeting next week. So we dashed off essays which must
have been pretty terrible to read. But I think we had
" high regard and high respect for him. We believed him
when he said that this was going to be a great school.
MINK: I wanted to come back again to the matter of the

third and fourth years. I had asked you a while back
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if the students were really worked up about this. I
suppose it was an economic consideration as far as the
students were concerned, certainly. They would either
have to go to Berkeley or they would have to go some-
where else to finish if this course of changing to the
third and fourth year didn't come about. But what kind
of activities were the students involved in, besides
just talking about it? Were there any things that they
became involved in to bring this about?

RCBBINS: Oh, jes. T don't think the economic con-
siderations were the prime ones. It was a relatively
small student body. When I graduated it was aboutvthree
thousand, which is relatively small, about the size of
Long Beach High where I graduated. No, I think we

loved that campus, we loved our associations, we liked
the professors and the teachers, we thought the teaching
was excellent, and by and large it was very, very good.
There was heavy emphasis upon that. I think we had

a loyalty to that institution generated by some factors--
I don't know, leadership of the student body in part.

We had some very good leaders in the student body like
Fred Moyer Jordan, who was president in 1924-25. We

had excellent rallies. We had a losing football team,
but we all went out and rooted for it and believed in

it Just as much as though it were winning. I think
there was developed there, in that streetcar college,

a group of leaders, many of whose names are prominent
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among the‘alumni now, who worked with the administration
and worked by themselves to make something of this
university. We really had a pioneering spirit. We
established traditions every déy. I mean we didn't

do it subtly, we did it boldly. "We're going to establish
a tradition today!'" we'd say.

MINK: T see.

ROBBINS: I think there was a spirit there that I do
not feel on the campus at the present time because
we're not one of the "have-nots'"--now we're one of the
"haves." The students get a lot here and take it for
granted that it's their lot. Well, we didn't have
much. But in the senior year--to answer your question
more specifically--when the bond issues were up for
buying this campus...

MINK: I know there was a lot of activism then, yes.
ROBBINS: ...we organized a tremendous activity and T
suppose at least fifty percent of the student body
participated in electioneering, going to the polls and
checking out and taking people to the polls. When
that won, there was a tremendous rally out here on
this campus and I stood where Founder's Rock is today,
with fhose people in Pajamarino, and we built a big
bonfire and celebrated coming out here. This was a
very real thing to us.

MINK: Perhaps there wasn't anything really in an

active kind of way that students could do to bring about
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the third or fourth year. This was a matter that Just
had to come from the regents and the legislature.
ROBBINS? I don't think it came from the stimulation

of the students nearly as much as it did from the fore-
sight of men like Edward A. Dickson and Ernest Carroll
Moore. Those two you think of as being the most
important ones. Mrs. [Margaret] Sartori, who was on the board,
I think, acquiesced. But this was against rather bitter
opposition from Berkeley, and the northern regents, and
the people generally of the state.

MINK: It's an interesting thing--just maybe you would
want to comment on it, too--when you compare this whole
matter of the third and fourth years and the right of
another university in the state besides the University
of California to grant the BA. It created such a
furor and it came so hard, and yet, Jjust within the
last year, a piece of legislation has been signed

which spreads out the right of the state colleges teo -
grant the PhD, which up until this time has been
primarily in the hands of the university.

ROBBINS: I hadn't heard that they had been given the
authority.

MINK: To establish PhD programs, a select number.
ROBBINS: A select number, yes, that's right.

MINK: Nothing was heard in the way of any kind of
positive action on the part of the university.

ROBBINS: Oh, I think the university has quietly been
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fighting this for a long, long time in the Coordinating
Council. I think it is true that many people in the
University of California, and many of my colleagues on
this campus, have looked askance at the development of
the state colleges, and they look down their noses at
the state colleges as being inferior. I can't help but
remember how I was at the end of glances looking down
the noses when I was at the Southern Branch. I recall
that in the development of UCLA, there has been some
profound change in this campus, and it has deveioped
into a fairly good school, a fairly good university.
It's entirely possible that San Diego State, Fresno
State, San Jose State--which is after all much older
than the University of California--might develop in
the same way, given time. I have been one of those who
have felt that it is very important for us in the
university to help the state colleges establish higher
standards and to rival us, to emulate us in the best
rivalry sense--not in the current mistaken notion of
the meaning of that word, "emulation." For this reason,
I pushed for the development of a joint PhD between the
Graduate School of Management and the School of Business
Administration at San Diego State.

Now it's true, I don't think they have the faculty
to compare with ours, but UCLA didn't have one that
compared with Berkeley or Stanford or even USC when I

was on that campus. But we have developed. I think
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one has to look ahead and look at this in the context
of the developing needs of the state and the resources
of the state.
MINK: Were you impressed by visiting lecturers from
Berkeley? I'm sure they were brought ddwna
ROBBINS: I don't recall that any visiting professor
was ever brought down.
MINK: DNever?
ROBBINS: I don't remember a single one that was
brought down. I do remember. that the president of the
university came down, President [David P.] Barrows,
. and made a sterile speech before the student body. In
it he made it perfectly clear that UCLA was never
going to amount to anything--very cleverly done, but
we must remain a junior college. I don't recall that
there was any kind of intercourse at all at the faculty
levels. I think the faculty at Berkeley was opposed
to this development. They opposed every step of the
way the third year, and then the fourth year. They
opposed the development of graduate study here per-
sistently. As late as 1940, or '38, somewhere in there,
Dr. [Edward] Strong, who was the graduate dean on that
faculty, said that the establishment of the Graduate
Division on this campus would never occur as long as he
was alive. They were very vocal about it.

We were treated as country cousins when we went

up there. But we did go up; the members of student
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body would go up in large numbers to the Big Game, the
Cal-Stanford game. We rooted for Berkeley; we sang

the Berkeley songs.

MINK: They were happy to have you, I'm sure, on these
occasions.

ROBBINS: They tolerated us, I think, in some way.
‘There's been an enormous change that I've seen, because
in the last five or six years of my active 1life I have
not sensed anything but equality between the faculty
and the business school up there and down here. I
think in general Berkeley is proud of UCLA now. We'wve
won our spurs. We're better than they are in some
departments, not as good in all departments as they are
by any means yet.

So that battle is won, and I think that Berkeley
is not now taking the same attitude towards Irvine,
Santa Cruz, and San Diego that they took toward us.

We suffered the development of this thing. I think it
gave us a great deal of strength; this suffering pulled
us together. There's nothing like suffering to pull

a family together or any kind of group. '~ Success |
doesn't do it. Pain does. [laughter] We had plenty
of pain at the old campus.

MINK: Do you feel that Moore was a disciplinarian par
excellence? I've heard this, that he was very strict
in the administration of discipline on the campus.

ROBBINS: Yes, he was strict. He picked deans like
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Helen Matthewson [Laughlin] who were strong. Earl
Miller, on the economics faculty, who was an excellent
instructor in elementary economics, a fine teacher--1
didn't happen to have him as a teacher, but he had a
fine reputation--was a very strong person in working
with the students in a quiet but very firm way, carrying
out Moore's wishes. I thought this was a good thing.

I still think it was a good thing for the head of
the university to make it clear to the students that
this was a privilege they had. They were using resources
that were put up by somebody else and they owed an
obligation to maintain these resources. I find it very,
very difficult to see students walking across the lawns
here, cutting across, although I think the architects,
the people who lay out plots like this, are making a
great mistake by putting it in squares and having
people walk around the squares, when the natural flow
of pedple‘is like the natural flow of water. I would
much rather, in a quadrangle, have paths cross there
in the square places. I think plantings should be
chaparral rather than expensive turf and all this.

But nevertheless, as long as it's planned that way,
why not preserve it and keep it beautiful? Of course,
I'm not a conformist, you can see it right away.
[laughter]

MINK: It's all right. We need them. Would you say

that Moore was a visible man on the campus? Something
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that we don't see too much of today is visibility; you
never see the chancellor around. We used to see Dykstra.
Even in the matter of sub-heads of the university,
there isn't the visibility, to some degree. because
it's larger. Did Moore do a lot of mingling with the
students on the campus?

ROBBINS: I don't think he did, but the campus was
very small; it revolved mostly around the quadrangle
between the library and Royce Hall. Coming in and out
of the office and going home, he would walk there, and
he always spoke to all students. 7You always felt that
somehow or other behind that stiff facade, there was

a man who was really interested. He just didn't let
himself go. I don't think he palled around with the
students at all. No, he wasn't terribly wvisible, but
all freshmen, of course, got to know him because of
Psychology X, which met once a week, and listened to
him.

MINK:  Was this a credit course?

ROBBINS: No, this was a noncredit course.

ﬁINK: But you had to attend it.

ROBBINS: You had to attend it. It was an orientation
course. It was an introduction to philosophy and
education. He would pose questions about what
education was all about and what your careers should
be, like what is the meaning of science, what is the

relationship between science and religion. Topics like
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this, he would deal with.

MINK: Did you find it an utter bore?

ROBBINS: I found it not an utter bore; at times I

was interested. But by and large, students took this
as a kind of necessary joke. You had to write these
papers and turn them in, and we were graded on them.
He had a staff of student graders who had written good
papers before.

I don't think that he was very close to the
students; however, they had a respect for him generally.
I think it was very, very unfortunate that the whole
episode of communism on the campus, his firing of
Celeste Strack as a student (disqualifying her as a
student, kicking her off the campus, whatever you want
to call it), that it was a very unfortunate episode
which, I always thought, was engendered by his luncheon
meetings with business and professional people at the
California Club. |
MINK: Oh?

ROBBINS: Or the City Club, or one of the clubs. 1T
think it was the California Club.

MINK: You mean you think they influenced him in his
decision? |
ROBBINS: I think he sat there and listened to these
businessmen who were frightened to death of communism,
[buf] didn't know much about it. He got very frightened
about it and he thought that he had to protect the
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university against the opposition and fears of the
public. I think this was a misreading, as I look back
now, and I thought so at the time.

MINK: Were you here then?

ROBBINS: Yes, I was here.

MINK: Well, you graduated in 1926 and then?

ROBBINS: I went directly to Harvard Business School.
I came back in 1928 to 1929 for one year as a research
director for an advertising firm. I was called by a
friend of mine who was dean at the business schaol at
the University of Oregon to pinch-hit for somebody .on
his faculty who resigned suddenly. ©So in August of
1929 I asked my firm for a leave of absence for six
months to go up to do this job. I had become interested
in university teaching and I wanted to try it out.
MINK: This was your first teaching experience.
EOBBINS: This was my first teaching experience. I
stayed with it and never wept back to business. I

had become interested in teaching because when I was
at Harvard Business School I was recruited to be on
the faculty of Lingnan University in Canton, China.
Also I was recruited to be at the Higher School of
Commerce at Kobe, Japan. I was very serious about
both of those but decided that I wouldn't go abroad,
mainly for family reasons. My father and mother needed
my financial assistance here more than I could help

them from China. So I was interested in teaching,
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and I came to UCLA in 1931 and have remained here

ever since.
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TAPE NUMBER: I, SIDE TWO

March 5, 1972

MINK: Before we began the interview, you,were telling
me an interesting anecdote about how you happened to
be recruited to join the faculty here after the move
to Westwood. I wonder if you could begin the second
side by telling that again.

ROBBINS: I was at the University of Oregon in my
second year, having been appointed associate professor
at the end of my first year.

MINK: Oh, that's a very rapid rise.

ROBBINS: And quite undeserved, but that's the way
things happened at that time at Oregon. During the
summer of 1930, a friend of mine from Oregon and I
were driving east by way of Los Angeles from Oregon.
We came to the campus because I hadn't seen it and I
wanted to look around. I met ElmerkBeckman who was
the executive secretary to Dr. Moore and an old friend
ofkmine, and he showed me about the place. I went in
to say hello to Dr. Moore and he seemed to remember

me (I doubt if he did but he made the right kind of
conversation; it pleased me anyway) and was Very,very
cordial. During the discussion, he said suddenly,

as he did always in his conversations, changing the
subject, "Tell me, why aren't you on our faculty?"

And I said, "Nobody's asked me." And that's all that
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was said about that. A few months later I received

a telegram from Howard Noble, who was chairman of the
economics department, offering me a job as an assistant
~professor of economics. There was, as I recall, no
request for biographical information or my plans for
research which, obviously, were very nebulous in those
days. I was just starting teaching and the teaching
load was very heavy at Oregon, as they were here in
those days. I accepted because I wanted to come back
to Los Angeles and I thought the future of UCLA was
going to be very bright. I was indoctrinated with

this as -an undergraduate student, and I felt it all
along. So I did accept, and the first time I saw
Howard Noble again;—he'd been an instructor of mine--he
said, "George, why did you give up an associate
professorship with Oregon..."

MINK: I was going to ask you the same thing.

ROBBINS: '"...and take an assistant professorship

here?" I told him that I thought really that my status
at Oregon was incorrect. It was premature that I got
the associate professorship but I didn't turn it down.
MINK: Did it Jjust sort of come?

~ROBBINS: The dean there was Dave Faville, the late
Dave Faville. He was a dean there for only three or
four years and then went down to Stanford. I had

known [him] at Harvard. He was very anxious tov

build up his young business school faculty with people
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who had backgrounds somewhat similar to his, the Harvard
case method. He was interested in injecting it there,
developing it. He knew I was rather anxious to get
back into business life again and go back to my job.
MINK: So this was sort of a carrot he was holding
out.

ROBBINS: I think he asked the president to make this
promotion, and the president, Dr. Hall, did. He called
me to his office and told me that he thought I was one
of the promising young men who would help make the
University of Oregon an important place. He thought
this was a good thing for me to have an associate
professorship. I didn't disagree with him on any of
-those sentiments, of course. [laughter]

MINK: No.

ROBBINS: But really, I got into teaching by the back
door. I didn't have a doctorate; I never have gotten
a doctorate. I wouldn't, of course, be able to get

on the faculty, or even on the campus as dogcatcher,

I. suppose, now. That's the difference in standards
that have occurred. I've been very instrumental in
upholding those standards in recruiting faculty, too.
I think that they are correct.

MINK: So you decided to give up your associate
professorship.

ROBBINS: Yes, I really don't think it meant very

much to me; status didn't mean very much to me in
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those days.

MINK: Your tenure, of course,bwas a matter of Job
security, and it was the Depression.

ROBBINS: I was not at all concerned with the job
security at that time; It just didn't enter my head
that there was any problem, though I learned more about
the facts of academic life as I went along.

MINK: Yes.

ROBBINS: I was very naive; but I've never regretted
it, although I was assistant professor for about fifteen
years during that period when, on the campus, year
after year we'd wait for the list of promotions and
there would be one or two or three a year on the
whole campus.

MINK: This was when promotions all were decided at
Berkeley.

ROBBINS: Oh, yes.

MINK: They were Just forwarded to Berkeley.
ROBBINS: Yes, that's true. The chairman of the
department in those days, and up to the end of the
Second World War, was really chore man. He simply
laid out schedules and advised students. He had no
budgets; he had a buget for stamps, I think, or
something like that. He was allocated secretarial
service, but he didn't have a budget for it, as far
as I know. He made recommendations to the provost

at that time, and the provost would make the
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recommendations up the line to the president. All
decisions were made by Dr. Robert Sproul, I'm sure.

As a matter of fact, I can remember when I was
acting chairman of the department, which was much
later (I guess the first time I was acting chairman
was in the summer of '45 or '46), and we had to make a
decision oﬁ the appointment of a teaching assistant
because one resigned. I remember classes were to begin
in about a week or ten days. The department members
got together and made a recommendation for someone to
fill this part-time position which must have paid
$650 a semester, or maybe a year, a very small amount.
We went over to Dr. Moore's office to ask him to
approve and he did.

We didn't know until the end of the first week
whether or not that person would be appointed. We
had to telephone Berkeley three times, as I recall, to
get word from them. Miss Robb, who was the president's
secretary, would apparently go into the president's
office and pull this recommendation off of the bottom
of the pile and put it on the top. ©She pulled a lot
of other things and put them up for other department
chairmen, and the president finally would act on them.
It was almost literally true that we couldn't buy a
paper clip without the approval of President Sproul.
And how we ever operated a campus like that with any

kind of standards, I've often wondered. I guess it
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was Jjust because we had so many people on the faculty
who were devoted to this place.

MINK: What were the classes that you were first assigned
to teach?

ROBBINS: They were mainly elementary accounting and
my own field of marketing and international trade. I
would teach fifteen to eighteen hours a week, beginning
at eight. every morning of the week, for six mornings.
MINK: Oh, you taught on Saturdays too?

ROBBINS: We had Saturdsy classes. I was always a
very late sleeper and I had very great difficulty in
getting awake until ten o'clock. Often I wouldn't
know what I had talked about at eight o'clock until T
asked the students the next day where we stopped. But
 those were heavy teaching loads. I had usually three
subjects and sometimes four: an uppér division class
in marketing, an upper division class in foreign trade
and two or three lower division lecture classes in
accounting. Sometimes there were four subjects:
Accounting 1A-1B and these other two upper division
courses. The classes then ran usually thirty to

fifty or sixty studehts. Sometimes the foreign trade
class would be a hundred.

MINK: Did you have much assistance in the way of
readership?

ROBBINS: Very little. We had some readers. They

were good readers; they were undergraduate students.
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Professor William F. Brown, for example, on our

present faculty here, was a reader of mine in marketing.
Then he went on to graduate work elsewhere. But those
were very burdensome Jjobs of teaching. I had no time

to develop a research interest at all. I was devoted
to teaching. I think the emphasis was on teaching here,
good teaching, and had been all along, because we had
excellent teachers. We had a few clunkers along the
way, but as a student I recognized this. There were
some very great teachers, some of whose names I've
mentioned already. ‘

In the Department of Economics there were good
teachérs: Watkins was an excellent teacher; [Paul A.]
Dodd came along; [John C.] Clendenin a little bit later;
[Lewis A.] Maverick a little bit later; [ Floyd F.] Burtchett,
in finahce, was an excellent teacher; and Noble and
Frisbee. So we had a reputation in the economics
department of having very good teaching, but not much
reputation for research in that time.

MINK: TIs this the reason that you feel that you were
promoted? Do you feel there was, as early as this,

a bigger emphasis on research for tenure?

ROBBINS: Well, I think there was always a very heavy
emphasis upon research here in promotions, I think

an inordinate interest in research, all the time I've
been at UCLA. I say inordinate cautiously, but I think

we were very anxious to rival Berkeley. We were very

35



anxious to prove to Berkeley that we were as good as
they were. And we were not going to promote anybody who
wasn't a research scholar, who didn't have a long list
of publications.

It has always been very difficult, from my ex-
perience, to give adequate recognition to people who
have been outstanding teachers or who have made contri-
butions to the development of the university in other
ways--for example, organization and management and
administration and educational policy leadership.
There's just no doubt; all along I have had to counsel
all of our young faculty members to develop their
research interests very early and to succeed in that
at an early date. That's the only thing they can do.
They have to develop a reputation for themselves and
they have to get things published.

T think this is right, this is fine, this is good.
But on the other hand, there are quite a number of
instances on the faculty where people would make very
1little contribution to the development of the university,
outside their own private development as scholars.

They were far more interested in becoming well known
as research scholars in their field than they were in
the school and the university's whole development. So
they would not attend committee meetings, they would
not take their fair share of advising the students and

these other things that had to be done. They eschewed
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those things deliberately. They succeeded in getting
promoted much faster than people who gave much more
well-rounded contributions to the university.

But I suppose this is all part of developing
standards and trying to be found great in a short
period of time. Of course, as someone who did not
develop a reputation as a scholar, I'm in a difficult
position to criticize. I did publish a fair share of
papers along the way, but I certainly wasn't to be
compared with the best research scholars. A great deal
of my attention during my tenure as assistant professor
was to committee work that I was asked to do and I did
well. I was asked to do more.

This was true, for example, of the Reinstatement
Committee, where I served for years and years, which
was a very burdensome thing. All of the student
discipline, academic discipline problems, were handled
by one committee of the [Academic] Senate. The deans
and the chairmen of the departments had mnothing to do
with it. Disqualified students and their parents came
before that committee during its long hours at work.

I would devote most of my summers, for two or three
summers, to nothing but handling the interview of
students and making decisions on disqualification,
reentry, this kind of thing.-

ﬁINK: These were academic disqualifications.

ROBBINS: These were not behavioral problems.
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MINK: Not behavioral problems but academic problems.
ROBBINS: Academic, yes. We would have to interview
many parents, and of course all of them were convinced
that if their children stopped now, they would never
go back, and it would ruin their lives and all this
kind of thing.
MINK: This is a very, very onerous responsibility.
ROBBINS: I think people who didn't serve on that
committee never had an adequate vision of its importance
to the students. I'm sure we developed a technique
under Professor Arthur P. McKinley, for example, and
Joseph Kaplan, Francis Blacet, and others who worked
on that a very long time; we developed a technique
which I think saved the careers of many, many students.
MINK: Could you tell me something about it? Not too
many of the faculty have spoken about the committee
work that they have done in the senate. I wonder if
you could tell me what it was that you feel you
developed?
" ROBBINS: Well, we developed a philosophy of attempting
to save all the people who were worthy of saving who
got into academic trouble. This was from fifteen to
thirty percent of the students in any class, more in
freshman class.

Of course, there are many reasons for failure.
One of the most important reasons had to do with

immaturity, inability of the student to handle himself
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when he got away from home, when he got into the more
free atmosphere of the university. One philosophy
that prevailed amongst many faculty members was

"Well, if he can't make a C average, he shouldn't be
here. Kick him out. We won't tolerate anybody around
here who won't make it." But our philosophy was quite
different than that; we felt that anybody who entered
UCLA had proved that he had what it takes to do
university work.

MINK: If he'd been awarded entrance, in other words.
ROBBINS: Yes, we have a rather stiff entrance, and T
think the lower schools at that time were doing much
more uniform work than they are now, probably, in
preparing students. But we felt that we should ferret
out the reasons, we should try to find the reasons for
the failure and try to correct them. Experience taught
us that one of the worst ways to handle a student was
to let him come right back into the atmosphere in which
he failed. If he were doing too much work in extra-
curricular activities, he would probably go back and
do the same thing. Or if he were in bad company, he'd
go back and do the same thing. Or if he were immature
and didn't know how to schedule his work and handle
himself, didn't have a clear motivation to do good
work, then he should get into another environment and
prove himself on that environment and then come back.

So we generally did not reinstate immediately,
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but we made people go out and do something else to
prove that they could succeed, even though it was making
profit selling popcorn in the street, or whatever it
was--digging ditches or whatever. But there are a
great many students who go to this university because
their parents want them to have an education that they
didn't have, and the students don't understand what
the university is all about. They don't really have
any background in their families, or the culture which
would prepare them for a love for learning. And those
people got into trouble quickly. Many of them did stay
out for awhile against parents' advice. The parents
would marshal all kinds of resources from the governor
on down to pressure us to make the wrong decision.

We learned to be pretty tough-minded about it, and T
think our record of rehabilitation was excellent. But
we missed on some, I'm sure. We reinstated some too
quickly, I think. We did, nevertheless, have a very
good track record of saving a number of people, many
of whom are rather important citizens today about the
state.

Well, now this was an onerous job. There were
other committee assignments along the way--reorganization
of the tenure rules, for example. I was secretary of
that committee; that's a 1little later on. That took
hours and hours of work. In fact, I served on over

200 committee appointments during my years here.
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MINK: These committees raise an interesting point that
you make: committee service is one of the five criterié
for promotion in the academic ranks. But I take it
from what you said that you feel, at least in the initial
period of your tenure here in the university, that not
too much emphasis was placed on this criterion.
ROBBINS: Oh, I don't think there was. I don't think
there has ever been.

MINK: You don't think there is now?

ROBBINS: I don't think there is much emphasis now on
this. It's a difficult, debatable question. See, you
cannot have a first-rate department or first-rate
university, or part of the university, unless you
populate it with creative scholars who are also
creative teachers. Those are two different things.
MINK: The best of all possible worlds.

ROBBINS: But on the other hand, you can't possibly,

in my view, develop a first-rate professional school,
as opposed to a disciplinary department, without having
very competent, aggressive, educational policy leader-
ship and organizational and management prowess, know-
how. I think one must distinguish between the
disciplinary departments and the professional schools,
partly because the objective of a disciplinary depart-
ment, like history or economics or physics, is to turn
out more people like themselves. That's their major

interest and goal, particularly at the PhD level. They
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sort of tolerate the general education to freshmen and
sophomores as a part of the necessary cost of doing the
other thing, and the real interest is in turning out more
historians, say, who are like themselves--better maybe,
but like themselves.

Now the purpose of a faculty of a medical school or
an engineering school or a business school or a law
school (I'm not so sure about law) is to turn out people
who are different from you. There is no such thing as a
"professor of business administration." There are pro-
fessors in various disciplines and fields that must come
together in a synthesis to produce a doctor of medicine,
or a manager. ©So0 the faculty as a whole is not interested
in producing only more anatomists or more surgeons, but
they're interested in producing a general practitioner
and some specialists, too.

In the business school, I think, this has been
particularly true. We do not have a discipline called
business administration. I think there is a developing
discipline called management, and of course our new
name suggests this. But in order to turn out good
people and good research in this field of business
management or business administration, or whatever you
want to call it, we must have a synthesis of a wide
variety of disciplines from the social sciences,
physical sciences, mathematics. We were one of the

first faculties of business administration in the
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country to appoint people who had not gotten their
doctorates as economists or as accountants or business
administration people. We were the first ones to bring
in an engineer--Ralph Barnes, for example, who is a
leading authority in his field, motion and time study.
It was a joint appointment with the engineering depart-
ment, but we initiated it in asking Dean [Llewellyn M.]
Boelter if he would like to have him, and he of course
said yes. ©So he was a Joint appointee. But many of
our colleagues, particularly at Berkeley, said, '"What
on earth are you doing with an engineer on the faculty
of business administration?"

And we appointed a psychologist, a behavioral
scientist, and other people of this kind. 1I've worked
for a long time to try to get a business historian, a
real historian--not a business administration major
who has an incidental interest in history, as I and
others indeed have. But we tried to find one who is
a professional historian whose interest happens to
be in the development of the institution called
business, which is one of the most pervasive institutions
in our whole society, or any society.

People think "What's he doing here?" And many
people in history, for example, would say, "Well, if
he's a first-rate historian, he wouldn't join a faculty
of business." Or psychologists say, "If he's a first-

rate psychologist, he wouldn't be in business school."
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We've passed that stage now. We do have in our leading
business schools absolutely first-rate scholars in those
basic disciplines who do not lose their professional
standing or credentials by being in the business school,
but rather emphasize the fact that they are interested
in the applications of their discipline to this particular
field.

Now, the aim is to get a faculty together that is
multidisciplinary and, hopefully, eventually inter-
disciplinary. This is a very difficult thing, but
essential to the attack on the difficult and complex
intellectual problems of organization and management.
Moreover, you have to have a high order of intellectual
educational policy leadership. You have to have strength
to manage your resources and to knock heads together
and get people to work together who have really quite
divergent interests, but who must unite in one central
interest--developing a first-rate professional school
that will turn out managers and research scholars in
this field of management. This professional school, T
think, is a special kind of situation in the university.

It's not quite the same as in a history depart-
ment, though I think good management in a history
department may be all too rare. The whole tradition in
the university, the European tradition, views the
department as made up of the professor and a number of

docents, and that the one professor is the best known
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man and the best scholar and is, prima facie, the best
organizer and manager of the whole curriculum, and so
on. This notion, I think, is a bad notion, a sterile
notion.

So I think that--to follow up this thought now--—
in promotions and recognition, if you have to have
special different kinds of people working together to
make a professional school, then you can't put all of
them through the same sieve; you can't measure them
exactly the same way.

We tended to do that in our committee system and
our budget ad hoc committees dominated by representatives
of departments whose aims are different from those of
a professional school. I haven't been as much a critic
of that system as some people. However, I think the
secrecy part of this system is the dangerous thing.
Then the chairman of the department, or the dean, does
not know who or what is back of the decisions. One
cannot get at the basic conflict in educational philosophy
that may impede the development of a professional school.

Now, I think, this is breaking down; Chancellor
[David S.] Saxon has done a very good Jjob of this. I
think Chancellor [ Foster H.] Sherwood began it. But
there were many times, as chairman of the department or
dean, that I would go to the chancellor and say, "What
is the reasoning behind the turning down of the départ—

ment's recommendation?" And he would say, "I'm not at
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liberty to tell you."
Sometimes Provost Dykstra would read me the
reports of an ad hoc committee and say, '"Here it is.
I can't show you the letter because the signatures
are there, but I'll cover these over and you can
read it." But he was chastised in no uncertain terms
by the Budget Committee for this practice. I think the
Budget Committee has intimidated one chancellor after
another on this basis, Ray Allen right on up to Murphy,
but Murphy didn't tolerate this too much.
MINK: I don't know anybody who could intimidate Murphy.
ROBBINS: He solved that problem by appointing Sherwood
and turning it all over to him.
MINK: That's always a good way.
ROBBINS: ©Sherwood was a part of the old establishment
here who was pretty much convinced that‘secrecy was a
good thing. So he didn't violate that. But he did,
I think, begin to recognize and to help work with the
Budget Committee to tell them that there's a difference
between the professional school and other departments.
The professional school needs the people who can
work with the professionals. This means the doctors
who can work with doctors, or people on our faculty who
can work with businessmen and other organigzation
leaders in certain ways. We do need to be oriented to
practice to some extent, not full extent by any means.

We have to be out ahead of practice, but we can't very



well be ahead of practice unless we know what the
practice is all about. We've always had trouble getting
recognition for things like organizational leadership.
In my own case, this was true. I was advised several
times by very good friends to leave the university and
go into business because management was my forte. I
didn't want to do it. I wanted to lick this thing and
stay here, because I had a vision of what a first-rate
business school could be like. Neil Jacoby shared that
with me, and we worked toward that end. So I tolerated
this academic obstinacy, and obviously I did what I
wanted to do, otherwise I would have gone someplace
else.

MINK: TLet's go back a little bit again to Noble. I
think the assessment of Noble has been that he was, in
the o0ld College of Commerce, rather limited in his
views. Would you agree with that?

ROBBINS: Oh yes, yes. I think so. I think that he
was a good accountant, and he was a good Latin teacher
in high school. He had a very orderly mind.‘ I don't
think that it had great expansiveness. It didn't have
a great tendency toward growth and development as the
field developed. During his lifetime, the field just
exploded, you see; during our lifetime, the field just
ébsolutely exploded.

MINK: Do you think that Noble recognized that he was

being passed over as far as the development of the
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school was concerned?

ROBBINS: Oh, I think so. I think that he felt that
he had built this school and he had developed it.
Dykstra terminated him, in a sense, asked him to step
down and told him he would bring in somebody else.

It turned out to be Jacoby.

MINK: Yes, but he really was figuring on bringing in
somebody else before Jacoby showed up on the scene.
ROBBINS: Oh yes, I think so. I was not fairly close
to this whole situation, but hindsight tells a good
deal.

MINK: Well, as much as you want to talk about it.
ROBBINS: . I'm perfectly willing to speak very frankly
sbout this. I may, on editing it, find some things
that shouldn't be public for awhile.

MINK: Those can always be restricted.

ROBBINS: Yes. Dykstra, when he came here, wanted to
build up a first-rate business school. When he was at
Wisconsin, he had a quarrel with Faye Elwell, dean of
the Commerce School.

MINK: I don't know Faye Elwell.

ROBBINS: Fayette (his name) Elwell was an accountant,
very much in the same vintage as Howard Noble. He was
very aggressive--much more aggressive than Howard, who
was a very placid and easygoing and sweet person. But
Faye was a very vigorous fighting man, and he had

organized an enormous backing of accountants in
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- Wisconsin to support him as the dean of the school
there. He was a tyrannical old duck. But I loved

him; T knew him quite well. But Dykstra and he had a
run-in because Dykstra wanted to broaden the base of
that school and make it something besides just an
accounting school. And Faye didn't want to do it. So
Faye organized, throughout the state, an anti-Dykstra
clique which really killed Dykstra as president of
Wisconsin. This is one of the major reasons why
Dykstra left Wisconsin; he had to. So he came here.

He told me that he thought this campus, and any first-
rate university, needed a first-rate school of business
administration. Now he understood management and
administration; he had been a manager, city manager,
and a university manager.

MINK: Yes, yes. Cincinnati, Ohio.

ROBBINS: I was a student of his here, when he lectured
part time at UCLA. He was then manager of the City
Club.

MINK: He was city manager of Cincinnati, Ohio.
ROBBINS: Yes. He left Los Angeles to become city
manager [ there]. He knew something about the breadth
and scope of decision making and organizational ability
required of a manager; he could see that being a first-
rate accountant wasn't the only answer to the problem.
So, this was one of the things he wanted to do. He

looked at our school; he said, "You have some strength
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but you have also weaknesses. It's jqét an accounting

school;Lwe've got to make it more than that." Well,

what to do? And he said, "I'd welcome your advice on

that." And I said, "Well, T don't have any advice at

the moment except that I agree with you one hundred

perceﬁt." I had tried to work with Howard and the

- other members of the faculty to make a professional

school, a.real professional school, out of this, instead

of a commerce college. Of course, I had little leverage

as a very young assistant professor.

MINK: Would you honestly say that they were not

interested in doing it, or did they lack the breadth

to do it?

ROBBINS: Well, they lacked the breadth and the modernity.

The faculty was made up mostly of economists, you see.

These economists were interested in economics, like

my colleague next door, Ralph Cassady, who is just

interested in research in economics. He and others

didn't really know anything about professional schools.
Now, Howard and Ira Frisbee had graduated Harvard

Buginess School. I did, too, but theirs was.an earlier

Harvard Business School, when the orientation was

mostly on accounting. The Harvard curriculum was

changing very rapidly, and local faculty members

weren't keeping up with these changes. They didn't

read about them; they didn't know about them. They

were preoccupiled with the basic disciplines of accounting
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and economics and their applications. In the whole
country, this concept that Dykstra had was new. It

was not only Wisconsin and UCLA, but almost every school
was suffering from this; even the Harvard Business
School was suffering with internal stresses and
strains.

MINK: Sort of a myopia.

ROBBINS: But Harvard was going ahead rapidly because
it had a lot of funds and had some very good leadership.
I was very close to those people whom I knew all these
years; and I conversed with them, I studied what they
were doing, and I studied what they were doing in other
business schools, too. I thought this was a part of

my education as a professor in this field. So I think
that Dykstra wanted new leadership in the College of
Business Administration. He had never actually told

me this. In the summer of 1947, I was invited, by PFaye
Elwell, to teach in his summer session at Wisconsin.

I didn't know that Dykstra was going to move ghead. T
didn't really know very much about the Wisconsin
situation, but I learned. I got an earful from Faye.
He Jjust hated Dykstra. But I loved Dykstra, see, so

1 was getting an earful.

MINK: You were in a precarious position.

ROBBINS: Oh,no, I was in an interesting position. T
wasn't telling on anybody. I had no responsible
position. But I got a telephone call from Dyke when
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I was there saying, "Do you know Neil Jacoby?" And T
said, "No, I don't, but he's in my home every Sunday
on the radio on the '"Chicago Round Table of the Air.'
I know him very well from that." He said, "Well, he
has a summer home outside of Chicago, and I wish you'd
go out and talk with him about his coming to UCLA as
dean." (This was the first time I had heard of it.)
He said, "This is a confidential mission." I said,
"Okay. On that basis I'll go." So I drove down and
talked to him about UCLA.
MINK: Had he been out here?
ROBBINS: Oh yes, before that. I should back up and
say that I had met him. In the spring of 1947, I
hired him to give a series of lectures to a group of
stockbrokers downtown. He had written to the university
saying‘he was golng to come out and spend six months
here because of the health of his child, and he'd like
to have something to do while he was out here. That
letter got to me as head of business administration
extension, so I hired him to give this series of
lectures, which was organized by my assistant, John
Van de Water, for the stockbrokers. Van .was a [University
of] Chicago JD and knew Neil at Chicago. So I did know
him, barely, that's all.

I did go down to see him, in Chicago, and talked
to him about the school and the development and answered

a few questions and that was it.
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At the same time I was conversing with some other
schools about their deanships. I was invited to be
the dean of this school at Minnesota, so I was up in
Minnesota interviewing them, and Dykstra was on the
phone saying, "You don't want to take that job up there.
You must come back here and help develop this school'"-——
which was very flattering. I decided on other reasons
not to take the job.

When I came back here then, it wasn't very long
before Dykstra called me in and said, "I've offered
the job to Jacoby." I think that Noble may have felt
that I had something to do with getting Jacoby here,
because I had hired him for extension and I had been
to Wisconsin and I went down to interview him. There
was no secret about my doing that, but I had no role
except that of a confidential courier. Of course,
after Neil came on the faculty, in about six months
or so, he asked me to be his associate dean and so that
lent some credence to the notion that there was synchro-
mesh at work here.

But I had no thought of doing administrative work
on this campus. I had been invited to be the dean at
two other places, partly because of my work in University
Extension. I built up the University Extension in
business administration. I was the first member of the
faculty in business administration to be appointed to

an extension liaison office responsible for the academic
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quality of extension. This was Baldwin Woods's notion,
which grew out of ESMWT program. [Do] you know what
those initials are?

MINK: 7You'd better [tell me], for the tape recording.
ROBBINS: Yes, a federal program: Engineering,

Science and Management Defense Training, later changed
to War Training, under University Extension. Later, the
program had separate status headed by Dean M. P. O'Brien
of the School of Engineering at Berkeley. The program
developed courses for training people in the war
industries. During a period of about two or three

years when I was head of the management part of the

program, we trained about 29,000 people.
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TAPE NUMBER: II, SIDE ONE
March 5, 1972

MINK: You were talking, when we left off, about the
coming of Neil Jacoby and the whole situation sur-
rounding Dykstra's appointment: how this may have
affected Dr. Noble's thinking and how he might have
felt about you. I was going to ask you, had you any
aspirations yourself for the deanship here?

ROBBINS: Oh, no, I had no such aspirations. In fact

I didn't really want to become a dean. I had looked
over one or two other offers and I felt that I was

not prepared to assume the responsibility of a deanship
anyplace. And I wasn't at all sure that I cared about
the kind of work that a dean has to undertake.

MINK: I thought perhaps your interest in management
might have led you in that direction.

ROBBINS: Well, it did, but my experience in management
had been limited to the war training and to the
University Extension effort. I felt that there was so
much beginning to happen in the field of business
administration, it was just beginning to broaden out
and explode. I could see from my work in plants, in
the war training effort, that there were so many

new fields of engineering and mathematics and behavioral

science opening up with management implications, I
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felt that I had to have much more experience, reading
and studying, before I could undertake leadership of

an important faculty. And I wasn't interested in being
a dean just for the sake of going through the motions
or the title. I didn't need that; I didn't want that.
I did think, however, there might be a time, when T

was prepared, I might want to try my hand at developing
an institution where these newer things wefe going to
happen. But I had no thought of the deanship at that
time.

I don't know what Noble's reaction was. He was
always very pleasant to me. He did indicate indirectly
to me and to others that he was a little hurt that he
was being let out.

MINK: Well, he wasn't really being let out. He was
simply going back to teaching.

ROBBINS: Yes, he was going back to teaching, but to

him, I think, the status of deanship was very important,
particularly amongst his colleagues in other universities.
At that time, there were really only about twenty-five

or thirty business schools that had any kind of standards
at all. The deans of those schools had come together

in a very informal way under leadership of Faye Elwell
and others in the United States. They had met informally
to talk about the problems the deans had, and it was

a kind of exclusive little club where their wives would

go. I enjoyed the benefit of this exclusive little
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club...

MINK: Without being a dean.

ROBBINS: No, after I became associate dean; because
very soon afterward Neil went on leave. He took his
leaves whenever they came up, and sometimes he'd go

to other places like the Council of Economic Advisors
when he wasn't eligible for leave. So I would step in
and go to these places for him, and it was a very nice,
friendly relationship with some very fine people, the
deans of these schools.

Well, this was the nucleus of the organization of
the American Association of Collegiate Schools of
Business, which today is a powerful accrediting
association for business schools and has a membership
of, I suppose now, something like two hundred, or two
hundred and fifty. It encompasses an association with
nonaccredited schools in the number of about six
hundred.

So I think that in this group of people who knew
the original organizing deans, the status was a very
important thing for Howard. He enjoyed that company;
and to be let out of that company, I think, probably
was a little painful to him.

MINK: He'd actually been the one who was responsible
for the establishment of the old College of Commerce.
ROBBINS: Yes.

MINK: You were here at the time that the college
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organized.

ROBBINS: Yes.

MINK: What actually brought this into existence? Was this
something that came from the faculty, or was it something
that was imposed by the administration?

ROBBINS: I've frankly never known the answer to that
question. I was a hard-working assistant professor

Jjust learning the trade. 1I'd been here three or four
years when this happened, and I have never known. It's
inconceivable to me that Howard would have the aggressive-
ness to push this thing through. I don't think he was
responsible for doing it, although he probably had an
important role to play. My guess is that there were

some alumni who were back of this. But I've never been
able to trace that history, énd I've never gotten a
satisfactory answer from Howard or anyone else. I'm

sure it didn't come as a result of President Sproul's
urging. I'm not at all sure it céme as a result of
Ernest Carroll Moore's urging. I doubt if he was really
very much interested in the professional schools as a
whole, except education. I think it probably was a

group of alumni and maybe some people in the legis-
lature. This aspect of our history I've always wanted

to find out about and never did. I was present at the
dinner at the University Club where Dr. Moore and a

few business leaders and some alumni and members of

faculty were present and where we celebrated the
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establishment of the school.

MINK: A College of Commerce connotes undergraduate
emphasis.

ROBBINS: It was a College of Business Administration
and it never was a College of Commerce. Berkeley had
a College of Commerce. In fact, it was the second
oldest college of commerce in the United States,
second or third.

MINK: I had somehow thought that before or prior to
it becoming a College of Business Administration it
had, here on this campus, been called the College of
Commerce.

ROBBINS: No, never was. It started out as a College
of Business Administration. It took people from the
freshman year to the bachelor's degree. Students in
economics or anyplace else were permitted to register
in the college directly from high school or as trans-
fers from letters and science to this college.

We had four years of this work. The first two
years were almost identical with the College of Letters
and Science, and there was a long debate as to what
these requirements would be. It wound up to be about
the same as the College of Letters and Science. We
patterned it after Berkeley's College of Commerce,
which always had had undergraduates—-freshmen and
sophomores.

Well, this was the name from the outset; and we
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were very proud to have the name business administration
rather than commerce, because the term commerce was

much, much too vague and macro-oriented and it did not
really tell anything about what we were trying to do.
Subsequently, of course, most of the colleges of
commerce have changed their names, as Berkeley did
finally, to business administration.

But I remember that dedication ceremony down-
town where Dr. Moore got up and talked about the
importance of having this new college and how he looked
around the country for its first dean, and he found
that on our own campus we had just the man. He held
up the new textbook that Howard had done, the old
[James 0.] McKinsey textbook. (Which South-western
Publishing had asked Howard to take over when McKinsey
was aging, and Howard redid that book; of course, it
was "McKinsey and Noble." When McKinsey died, Noble's
name went on it. It was one of the best accepted
elementary textbooks in the country. In fact I guess
it is, historically, the best seller.) He held this
book up and said, "This is proof positive."

Howard had not written anything up to that time
at all. As far as I know, I can't recall anything he
did, maybe an article or two on accounting education.
But he was a first-rate teacher, a very systematic,
orderly organizer of work. His lifework was really

editing and reediting that book. The publishers were
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very astute. They told him exactly what to do to make
it a best seller, and he did it, he had to do it.

They would not even allow him to include in the

preface acknowledgment of the contributions to that
book by his colleagues. I made some contributions

to it--very minor--but some others, like Harry Simons,
for example, made enormous contributions to that
textbook.

MINK: Why was that?

BOBBINS; South-western Publishing Company didn't -

want that superfluous stuff in the book: "Cut out all
that nonsense;f and they dictated that. They dictated
other things. He ~wanted to change the wverbiage, for
example, to call a "reserve'" for depreciation an
"allowance" for depreciation, which was a new term

that was beginning to be accepted in advanced circles.
They wouldn't do that because "reserve for depreciation"
was the traditional pattern. This was the sort of thing,
and Howard went along with that. It was a vast
money-making enterprise; he did very well.

Howard was devoted to the school, but really never
had any concept of planning. He always would make
decisions ad hoc. He gathered his faculty together on
an ad hoc decision basis. Witness my own appointment
and the appointment of almost everybody else on that
faculty that came during Howard's tenure. People would

come by, like Wayne McNaughton for example, and call
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on Howard and tell him they were interested in a job.
He would gather some of us together, and we'd go to lunch
at his house or someplace and meet this man. The next
thing we knew, Howard had asked him to be appointed,
and the chancellors had gone along with him.

MINK: That's an interesting way.

ROBBINS: This is more typical than not, of course,
throughout the United States. The dean, being the
chairman of the department, goes to the head of the
institution and they make the decision.

MINK: Do you think the faculty were resentful of this?
They were in on the decision-making in a way, weren't
they, because they had met the man?

ROBBINS: In a very flimsy way. He might call us
together after the luncheon to say, "What do you think
about him?" '"Well, he looks like an interesting
person''--very superficial. I don't think it was a very
good way.

There were one or two of us who were always raising
the question: "How does this appointment fit into your
scheme of development? What's the goal, and how does
this move toward that goal?" Howard Jjust didn't under-—
stand what we were talking about;.he really didn't.
This method of his was solving a problem that he had,
immediately. He had a budget position to fill, and
this filled it. He needed a man in production manage-—

ment, and this fellow had experience in time and
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motion study. This was the way he appointed other
people. They came to us. They came through and wanted
a job. Ralph Cassady was the same way, although Ralph
was one of the most bitter critics of the lack of
planning after he got on the faculty. Whenever any
decision was to be made whether to add a new course—-—
somebody wanted to teach a new course--some of us would
raise the questions: "Why should we have this course
at this time? How does it fit into the mosaic or
pattern? What is our future? What will you see in
the future of this school?"

Well, the fact of the matter was that Howard, and
some of his colleagues, really saw the school as a
training ground for CPAs. This was the main function
of a business school to him. This wasn't the only
school in the country: this was true of Wisconsin,
for example; it was true of Illinois and a dozen other
schools. Most of the deans were accountants. The
reason for this was that accounting was the first field
in business that developed any kind of systematic
literature. It was all geared to practice and a very
vital practice. It was dealing in rather specific,
concrete numbers, at first elementary concepts but very
vital ones. It's subsequently become much more laced
with interdisciplinary work, which wasn't true at
that time. As far as Howard was concerned, nobody

should be in our faculty that didn't teach elementary
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accounting. Everybody should teach elementary accounting.
MINK: Or at least be able to teach it.
ROBBINS: Yes. He took this point of view when he
was chairman of the economics department. The year
I came, Constantine Panunzio, a sociologist, came to
the faculty. Constantine and I knew each other before.
Curiously enough, Constantine met my father when
both of them were strolling along the beach, in Long
Beach, when I was in high school. They struck up a
conversation, and we were nearby, and Dad called us
over. This started an acquaintanceship by my older
brother and myself with Constantine which lasted, a
very close relationship, up to the time of his death.
My brother is also an academic man.

So Constantine and I appeared on the same day to
share the same office in Royce Hall. Neither one of
us knew that the other was on the faculty.
MINK: We owe Constantine a great debt.
ROBBINS: Oh, my, yes. ZPeople never did know because
so many people disliked him and misunderstood him.
He was a trial and a difficult person to live with
in many respects, but certainly we would not have the
retirement system that we have today if he hadn't
fought like a bulldog and if Paul Dodd hadn't gotten
his bulldog jaws on this problem too.
MINK: How do you feel that Panunzio was misunderstood?

ROBBINS: Well, in the first place, he was an immigrant,
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and foreigners were not too welcome in academic circles
in those days.

MINK: The thirties.

ROBBINS: I really think they weren't. In the second
place, he was a fierce-looking Italian. He had a
walleye--he had had a firecracker ruin an eye when he
was a youngster in Italy--and this gave him kind of

a fierce expression. He was an intense person, extremely
intense person. He drove himself. He had a Latin
thermometer that just went shooting right up as soon

as there was any kind of heat attached to it. He would
explode, even to his best friends, and one had to learn
how to be tolerant of this. One could learn this very
easily if he got acquainted with him, because he was
one of the most lovable persons you would ever meet.

He was intensely scholarly, intensely and broadly
interested in society, of course, and everything that
goes to make it up. I spent many hours with him when
both of us were batching here, before I was married,
living in the Glendon Apartments. We would spend
Sundays roaming the hills amongst the rattlesnakes and
deer and the hares. I got intensely adquainted with
him, and he taught me a good deal of Italian, which
came in good stead when I taught in Italy later. He
would fly off the handle and people would misunderstand
him. Some people reacted exactly in kind, which, of

course, is a tendency that all of us have. It came to
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fisticuffs on occasion in sociology, you know. At any
rate, when he first joined the faculty, he did so by
reason of Gordon Watkins's pleading, "We need a
sociologist on the faculty." At that time, a
sociologist was somewhat akin to a Communist in many
minds. It was a kind of a dangerous thing to have a
sociologist on the faculty, and particularly at that
stage of development at UCLA. I think that probably--
I dbn't know this to be the case--some members of the
faculty looked askance at having sociology. Howard
called him in and said, "You will teach elementary
accounting."

Well, of course, Constantine had never studied
accounting and didn't know the first thing about
accounting. He didn't have the accountant's orderly
mind at all. He had an entirely different approach
to things.

He just blew up. He said, "I will not. I wasn't
hired to teach accounting." He wasn't; there was no
agreement. They were always at odds as a result of
that. He never did teach accounting, but he was
scheduled to teach it. I guess finally Howard gave up,
or he didn't need him for that section or something,
so that solved the problem.

The environment at that time was very rigid.
Watkins, who was a really first-rate mind and first-

rate teacher, one of the finest teachers I ever had,
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was interested in administration (he was later dean of
the College of Letters and .Science). Earl J. Miller
was the dean of students. So you had a faculty with
strong people oriented elsewhere. You had a noneconomist
as head of the economics department, and you have
mercurial Floyd Burtchett who was always off doing some-
thing fantastic. You had no basis for developing a
first-rate economics department.

MINK: Would you say that Marvel Stockwell also was of
the same ilk, more or less limited in his view?
ROBBINS: Marvel was a very good economist. He and
Miller were here because Watkins had known them at
I1linois, that same old incestuous sort of inbreeding.
Marvel was one of the sweetest persons you'll ever
know, mild and a good teacher, methodical. One knew
exactly from his lectures where the indentations in the
notes were. But not much inspiration; [he was] very
quiet, and he did not assert himself very much. He

went along with things pretty much; he was a cipher

in the department. But everybody loved him. I don't
think he ever shone very brightly.

Dudley Pegrum, a Canadian, came down, of course,
about that time from Berkeley; he was anything but shy
and retiring. He was always telling you what the
decision should be, in no uncertain terms. He was not
a unifying, consolidating influence, but rather a

disruptive kind of influence.
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MINK: Apparently the same thing happened in a number

of different departments, I find through these inter-
views. People who came from Berkeley sort of biew
things apart.

ROBBINS: Well, I don't think Dudley did it because he
came from Berkeley. He would have done it anyplace,
just because of his nature. He's very bombastic and
cocksure. He knows the answers to all the questions
before the questions are defined. He's a pretty
competent economist, a very, very sensitive individual,
as most of these blustery people are. One learns years
later how he took offense at some casual, Jjocular remark
that you made that had no intention of fitting that
meaning. But I think this is true of Dudley. He was

a hard worker and was a stimulating teacher for students.
They helped him; he was youthful. But there was no
foundation for real first-rate development in economics,
and the economics department has always suffered from
that here until more recently.

MINK: You didn't go so far as to discuss what the
situation was here with Jacoby when you first talked

at his home about the possibility of his coming, or

did you?

ROBBINS: No, I didn't. I didn't go into details. I
simply told him that I thought that there was a very
sound basis for the development of the school because

they had a first-rate accounting discipline. I thought
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that was essential to a school, but it wasn't enough.

It needed to broaden. We had to have long-range
planning; we needed to fight for budgets; we needed to
have systematic recruiting and systematic curriculum
development. These things were lacking, but we had

some good people, besides myself [laughter], on the
faculty. I thought the environment was right; I thought
the leadership of Dykstra would give him the backing.

I thought that he would have trouble getting recognition
from Berkeley from President Sproul. It would be an
uphill fight but worthy. I didn't go into personalities,
and I didn't talk about people, because I thought it

was very unfair to him to give him a biased view.

MINK: A preconceived idea.

ROBBINS: A preconceived notion which might be quite
wrong. I'm only infallible to myself. [laughter] He
came out here, and he was quite naive, I think, about
the situation in general, coming as he did from Chicago,
where lines of authority and faculty government were
simple. He knew we had a [Academic] Senate and a Budget
Committee; he knew that the dean had no real budgetary
authority. This came later. This was beginning to

come right about that time. I can't tell you exactly
when it did come, but I don't think we had much more
than superficial control of the budget. I'm pretty

sure that this was quite a little bit later when we

could open up our own drawer and look in and see how
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nany FIE [ Full-Time Equivalent positions] we had--
who was filling what post and how much they were making
and all this kind of thing.
MINK: The question that comes about this time is, why
do you think that Jacoby decided to make you his
associate dean? Why not somebody else in the depart-
ment?
ROBBINS: I thought you were going to ask why did he
come.
MINK: Well, he has, to a degree, explained. Maybe
you have something you would like to add. Answer both
questions, if you would.
ROBBINS: Well, at least put my foot in it. I think
there are two reasons why he came--at least two
reasons. I think one of the most important was the
health of his son.
MINK: Yes, I agree, from what I've heard him say.
ROBBINS: This was a very serious problem to him because
they had awakened several times in the middle of the
night with a blue boy there, choking, then having to
rush to the hospital to have his throat cut open so
he could breathe. He thought that that Chicago climate
was not good for it. I think this is a very important
motivation.

Another guess is that he Jjust got kind of tired
of the vice-presidency.

MINK: Well, he intimated that fund raising really
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wasn't his forte.
ROBBINS: I think he had said that, and I think this
is true. In retrospect, I would say this is probably
trﬁe, because he never was good at it here, never was
very much interested. I think he and Hutchins have
always been friendly antagonists. They had admiration.
for each other, but not necessarily agreeing on things.
But I think he felt that it was time to move, and
I suppose that he felt this maybe did have a future.
I think he felt that Southern California probably was
going to develop. I don't really know beyond that;
it's a guess. But then why did I take the associate
deanship?
MINK: Or why do you think that he asked you to
take it?
ROBBINS: Well, I don't know, really. I had, of
course, achieved considerable success in organizing
the business administration extension and in the war
training. I demonstrated I knew how to get things done,
how to plan, and how to get things together. I think
he felt that if he were going to accomplish what he
wanted to do here, he had to get rid of some of the
‘problems that took up all of Dean Noble's timé. The
biggest set of problems was the student affairs.
See, we had students all the way from freshmén
through to first-year graduate. It's an enormous

problem of handling of students. Disqualification
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came to us with the dissolution of the Reinstatement
Committee. XKeeping the records on all those students
and advising students was an enormous task. He didn't
want to do all that, so he asked me to do it. I think
he was Jjust wise enough to see that he couldn't build
without delegating responsibility. We had talked
together, both in Chicago and after he arrived here,
about planning, what kind of school we really should
develop, and we found ourselves very much in agreement
on the method of going about this--not necessarily on
details--but we were simpatico on this. I guess this
is the reason for what he did.

MINK: How would you say his coming was accepted in
general by the rest of the faculty?

ROBBINS: I think he was not too well accepted at
first.

MINK: Can you tell me why you think so?

ROBBINS: Well, there were a lot of loyalties to
Howard Noble. We were all loyal to Howard Noble and
we were fond of him. He and Josephine were great
socializers; they had us to their home, and we had
picnics in the park with the families. It was a small
group and we were friendly. Howard had developed a
first-rate group of teachers for CPA, and it was really,
at that time, recognized as being, I guess, the best
CPA preparation on the coast, perhaps west of Chicago.

There were a lot of people who Jjust faced the prospect
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with discomfort, I think--having an unknown dean. They
had not been consulted, as far as I know, very much

about this.

MINK: That wasn't the name of the game, then, was it?
ROBBINS: No, it wasn't. Dykstra had done it pretty

much on his own. I don't recall having been consulted
except for what I told you, but not as a member of the
faculty with others. Dykstra didn't call us in and

sit down with us and say, "Well, what do we want to do?"
I think if Dykstra had done that, they would have said,
"Let's not change."

MINK: Now that's an interesting point. Parenthetically,
yes, people don't like surprises. On the other hand,

you went into particular detail and took particular

care in telling that there was this criticism of Noble
from the standpoint of "Where are we going?"

and "Does this appointment fit into our ultimate goal?"
And that, for example, Ralph Cassady, and other members
of the faculty were critical of him on this standpoint.
Okay. They didn't like him and yet they didn't want

to change. Is that it?

ROBBINS: Well, I think that there were only two or three of us,
assistant professors, who were critical.of the lack.of forward
planning. As assistant professors you don't go around
waving the flag about this sort of thing. We were

‘living with it and planned to inject our ideas into it

gradually. I think by and large the faculty was
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probably fairly comfortable the way things were.
MINK: You mean complacent, maybe.
ROBBINS: Yes, even though they complained, they were
fairly comfortable. They didn't know Jacoby. They
didn't know what he stood for or where he wanted to
go. They had no knowledge of what was happening. And
I think the first meeting that Jacoby had with the
faculty was a pretty frigid kind of affair.
MINK: I read the minutes of it, and it sounded that
way .
ROBBINS: He wasn't terribly gracious about our past.
He said, "Well, you have a good school here, but there
are things we will do to change it." I think some
people probably felt that he could have emphasized
a little more some good points about us, you know.

Of course, they didn't know Neil at that time.
They didn't know that he is probably the most rational
human being, basically, that they'd ever met. 1've
never met a person so thoroughly logical and rational
about almost everything. Nobody's that thoroghly
rational, but he approaches all questions from the
intellectual point of view, not from an emotional
point of view. His logic may be tinged by his own
emotions way back, in inarticulate major premises, but
basically he is this cold, calculating, logical person.
He has not ever been known for having great social

graces. A lot of people felt that they never knew him,
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you see, because he wouldn't slap you on the back.
MINK: Austere.

ROBBINS: Something like Ernest Carroll Moore--straight
back; he doesn't move his head.

MINK: He moves his whole body.

ROBBINS: Yes, and these little things were quite a
change from warm, informal arrangements we had before.
I think the faculty took it in their stride. I don't
think there was any enmity, except perhaps one person
who was always very, very critical of any suggestion
that Neil made and he's right next door here.

MINK: Oh, Professor Cassady is pretty critical of
anything that anybody makes. He's very much an
independent guy.

ROBBINS: He's a lone wolf. But he succeeded in
thwarting Neil's development of this school for almost
ten years, almost singlehandedly.

MINK: By what means? By his own influence among his
colleagues on the faculty?

ROBBINS: In the [Academic] Senate.

MINK: In the senate.

ROBBINS: bNot here, but in the senate. TYou see, he
was respected in the senate because he is a scholar,

a highly productive scholar. He was on the Budget
Committee; he was on ad hoc committees. I think it is
true that probably in the first five years that Neil

was here, Ralph and Dudley Pegrum were on every ad hoc
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committee, and between them they Jjust stifled
recommendations; they said "no" to everything.

MINK: That cou;dn't have been an accident. A
committee system and the senate theoretically should
function, right. It should accomplish something.

Yet there's the system and there are the people in the
system.

ROBBINS: Well, you see, we didn't have very many
tenured members of the faculty, so when people over there
[Academic Senate and administration] appointed the
committee, they thought of Ralph. And as 1 say, they
respected his scholarship; they didn't know anything
about his internal operations. He didn't really have

a very strong backing from the people he worked with,
because he's not the sort of person you work with. He
stayed by himself; he didn't even pay any attention to
students or the faculty. He would not raise an objection
to a proposed candidate for the faculty in a department
meeting. He would even vote yes. But when he got on
the ad hoc committee he'd ding it. He never took the
position that he had any responsibility to the schoolj
he had a responsibility to the university. I think he
was very honest about this. Ralph tries very hard to
be absolutely intellectually honest.

MINK: This wasn't a personality conflict then, was it?
It was an intellectual conflict.

ROBBINS: I think it was intellectual, and I think
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Ralph honestly believed that Jacoby didn't have good
standards.

MINK: What kind of standards do you think Mr. Cassady
would have set?

ROBBINS: Well, he would refuse to assume responsibility
for this. He would never recommend anybody to the
faculty. Jacoby would ask for recommendations, and as
far as I know the only person that Ralph ever recommended
was Professor Roland Vaile, of Minnesota, a friend of
his. He kept recommending him to come here. I knew
Vaile but he didn't belong here.

MINK: He ultimately had problems, didn't he? Vaile?
ROBBINS: You're thinking about Peter Vaill, who was

a younger man here later on.

MINK: Yes.

ROBBINS: Entirely different situation. No, this
‘Professor Roland S. Vaile was really the one who was
instrumental in getting my invitation to Minnesota.

He thought I would be a good dean for Minnesota. But
Cassady would never make any recommendations; he would
always sit back and be critical. And it was difficul+t
to recruit in those days. It was not easy. Neil had
a tendency to bring people from Chicago because he
knew them.

MINK: Right, yes.

ROBBINS: You had tRobertj Tannenbaum,” [ J. - Frederieck] -

Weston, [Cyril J.] O'Donnell, and this was something +that,
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I think, was subject to criticism.

MINK: Well, Noble had done the same thing, too, in the
sense that he brought people to the economics department
from Illinois.

ROBBINS: Right. Really I think he tended to do it the
easy way, maybe. But for Neil, there were a lot of
problems to be solved. The faculty was expanding
rapidly and we had more students. He and I were trying
to develop a long-range plan for the school which would
lead it to where it is now--strictly a graduate school.
We had to be kind of careful about advertising this
ultimate goal. We went about it by lopping off the
lower division first, because we couldn't see why on
earth we should be saddled with educating freshmen

and sophomores when their curriculum was the same as

[ those in] letters and science. Why not let letters amnd
science do it? They ought to know better than we do
what general education is all about. I don't know that
they do, but they ought to. The point is we shouldn't
know this; we shouldn't pretend that we know it. This
was quite a struggle to get this change.
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